1963

Vera T. Callister v. Lucy C. Callister : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF KIND OF CASE

This was an action to set aside a release, stipulation, and judgment (resulting from compromise and settlement of a prior action) and to recover, along with \$25,000.00 punitive damages, the full amount demanded in the prior action less \$4,000.00 paid to settle it. The complaint alleges that defendant's fraudulent representations had induced plaintiff to settle.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

Defendant moved to dismiss for failure to state a claim, and both parties moved for summary judgment. The court granted plaintiff's motion, holding as a matter of law that plaintiff was entitled to have the prior stipulation, judgment, and release set aside.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellant seeks reversal of the judgment and remand of the case with direction to dismiss the action with prejudice; or, if this is denied, remand of the case to the district court for trial of issues relating to the claimed fraud, and to reliance, estoppel, clean hands, and plaintiff's timeliness.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Plaintiff Vera T. Callister (herein called "Vera") was once married to Dr. Alfred Cyril Callister (herein called "Dr. Callister"), now deceased. On July 30, 1945, they were divorced (R. 1), and Dr. Callister was ordered to pay monthly alimony. As of early 1955, Dr. Callister's alimony payments were current, but in that year some payments were missed and at Dr. Callister's death on February 9, 1961, there had accrued under the terms of the decree a principal indebtedness of \$11,150.00 (R. 40).

Subsequent to his divorce, Dr. Callister married defendant, Lucy C. Callister (herein called "Lucy"),

and their marriage continued until Dr. Callister died. Lucy was appointed executrix, letters testamentary were issued, and she qualified on or about March 24, 1961 (R. 78). She has acted as executrix ever since.

On about August 7, 1961, Lucy as executrix delivered to the clerk of the court an "Inventory and Appraisalment" of the probate estate, along with an "Inheritance Tax Report and Appraisalment," completed except for valuations by appraisers (R. 85, 100). The probate inventory showed an estate of only \$809.12, but the companion inheritance tax report showed that less than three years before his death Dr. Callister had transferred a large number of shares of stock, and that when he died Dr. Callister and Lucy held a joint tenancy in two valuable parcels of local real property. The probate appraisal was filed officially on August 24, 1961 (R. 85), and the inheritance tax appraisal was filed officially on February 9, 1962 (R. 100-103).

Meanwhile, in June, 1961, Vera's counsel had filed a claim against the estate for \$11,400.00 alimony, and \$2,046.28 interest, and on November 1, 1961, the claim was rejected (R. 87-89). On November 8, 1961, James W. Beless, Jr., then Vera's only attorney of record, filed suit against Lucy to establish Vera's claim against the estate and, in effect, to set aside the transfers to Lucy by Dr. Callister (R. 21-26), the complaint alleging that the transfers were made "without consideration and with intent to hinder, delay and defraud plaintiff as a creditor," and that Lucy aided and abetted Dr. Callister in his fraudulent scheme. Lucy's answer admitted

the transfers, denied they were fraudulent within the meaning of the Fraudulent Conveyances Act (Title 25, Chapter 1, Utah Code Annotated 1953), and raised defenses of laches and estoppel, on the ground that Vera had led Dr. Callister to believe she would not collect the alimony, and that as a result Dr. Callister, who then had grounds for reduction of alimony, failed to obtain modification of the decree.

When the first action was brought, Vera's attorney knew there was a conflict of interest between Lucy and Vera, and that Lucy claimed the right to keep the property transferred to her by Dr. Callister (R. 21-23, 52:4-5).¹ He also knew there was no actual confidential relationship between the two women and that there had been ill feeling between them for many years (R. 52: 28-29). He was experienced in probate matters and knew that Lucy, at the same time she was defending a fraudulent conveyance action, would have to anticipate that the tax collectors would claim that Dr. Callister made the transfers "in contemplation of death" (R. 52: 10-11).²

The fact of the transfers was never kept from Vera; information about them was contained in the inheritance

¹ As the record has been put together, each deposition is given a separate page number. For convenience, depositions will be referred to by the record page number followed by the page number in the deposition, e.g., R. 52: 4-5 refers to pages 4 and 5 of the deposition of James W. Beless, Jr., and Vera T. Callister, found at page 52 of the record.

² Although Vera's counsel doesn't say so directly, his testimony has to mean that he believed the existence of the tax problem would help him force a settlement of the fraudulent conveyances action (R. 52: 11, 57a).

tax report and probate inventory which had been examined by Mr. Beless prior to bringing the action (R. 52:9-10). Allegations about the transfers of the property and the fraudulent intentions of Dr. Callister and Lucy in making them, in fact, comprised the bulk of the complaint in the first fraud action.

In preparing for trial of the first action Vera's counsel took Lucy's deposition and served interrogatories upon her. During the deposition Vera's counsel began to inquire about the stock transfers and the reasons for them:

"Q. (By Mr. Beless) Why were the transfers of the stock made in 1959 from your husband to you?

A. I didn't know they were made until after they had been made and my husband told me he thought it was best to put them in my name.

Q. When did you find out they had been made?

A. I don't think it was until in 1960 sometime.

Q. Did the dividends come in your name?

A. Yes they did" (R. 59:15).

But he abandoned the inquiry for no apparent reason and asked no more questions in the deposition or subsequent interrogatories (R. 31) about where or when conversations occurred; how Lucy learned of the transfers; or Dr. Callister's reasons for thinking "it was best" to put them in Lucy's name. He made no effort to interview other persons who might have knowledge of Dr. Callister's affairs because "they were all hostile"

(R. 52:18). But, notwithstanding the “representations” in Lucy’s inventories, answer to the complaint, deposition and answers to interrogatories, Vera moved forward with the action. On April 23, 1962, her counsel served and filed a “Notice of Readiness for Trial” (R. 39) in which he certified that he had interviewed all known witnesses he might call, used such discovery as he felt necessary, and concluded all necessary examinations and depositions. On September 26, 1962, a pre-trial conference was held by the court.

The Pre-Trial Order (R. 40-42) framed the following issues: whether in making the transfers Dr. Callister had an intent “presumed in law” to defraud his creditors; whether he was rendered insolvent; and whether Vera was estopped from asserting her claim against the estate. All pleadings were merged in the order, the effect of which was to eliminate from the case any issue as to whether Dr. Callister had the “actual intent” to defraud creditors (R. 40-42).

The order impressed Vera’s counsel with the “difficulties” in his case (R. 52:26), and regenerated thoughts of settlement. He returned to his office to write a long, analytic letter to Lucy’s counsel, suggesting that Lucy, by paying Vera’s claim, could save the difference between the amount of that claim and death taxes which might be imposed. (The letter is found at R. 52:57a, and is reprinted as Appendix “A” to this brief.) Although counsel’s calculations were erroneous—overstating the tax—the implications were clear. He rec-

ognized that Vera's claim of "fraudulent conveyance" was inconsistent with the anticipated Tax Commission claim that the transfers were includable for estate tax purposes because made "in contemplation of death." Payment to Vera would help convince the tax authorities that Dr. Callister's intent was to place the property beyond access of his former wife.³

It had been pointed out by Lucy's counsel that the court could find the transfers were made to defraud Vera as a creditor, while the taxing authorities could find that the transfers were "in contemplation of death"; also, that Lucy possibly could prevail in both cases (R. 52:20).

Negotiations opened by the Beless letter of September 26, culminated in compromise: Lucy was to pay \$4,000.00 to Vera in complete settlement of all her claims against Lucy, individually and as executrix.

The money was paid and a release executed and delivered by Vera. On October 10, 1962 (the date set for trial), the parties entered into a stipulation that the action be "dismissed with prejudice and on the merits," and on October 11 the following judgment was entered:

"Upon stipulation of the parties, and it appearing that the above entitled action has been fully compromised and settled, it is **ORDERED**,

³ If, as counsel contends (R. 52: 16)), he then believed Lucy's denial of actual fraudulent intent, the letter was in effect asking her to commit a fraud on the tax authorities by leading them to believe that the transfers were made with intent to defraud Vera, and not in contemplation of death. If he didn't believe it, there was no reliance at the time of settlement.

ADJUDGED AND DECREED, that the above entitled action be, and it hereby is, dismissed with prejudice and on the merits, each party to bear her own costs."

As anticipated by all, the taxability of the transfers became an issue, and in December Lucy presented to the State Tax Commission three affidavits relating to Dr. Callister's state of mind. Two affidavits from attorneys tended to show that Dr. Callister was concerned about his former wife's claim for alimony; the third, Lucy's own, contained a statement that Dr. Callister had once said (the date not being indicated) that he had made the transfers for the purpose of putting the property "beyond access of his former wife." A copy of Lucy's affidavit is found at R. 51 and in this brief as Appendix "B."

The Tax Commission did not accept the affidavits as conclusive as to intent and continued to claim the right to death taxes on the transfers. A compromise and settlement was stipulated between Lucy and the Tax Commission on July 12, 1963, under which Lucy paid the Tax Commission \$4,286.61 in estate taxes (R. 129), representing one-half of the amount that would have been payable if all of the transfers had been included in the gross estate. Thus Lucy had compromised two claims against her, both of which were based in large part, if not entirely, upon different, inconsistent states of mind on the part of Dr. Callister—who was no longer available to testify.

In March or April, 1963, Vera's lawyer learned of

Lucy's affidavit (R. 52:21, 28), but did nothing about it "because frankly I wanted to see what the Tax Commission did on this conflicting evidence," even though he knew Lucy was then attempting to resolve the tax dispute (R. 52:27). At that moment Vera's counsel had all the information he later felt to be necessary to support rescission of the settlement, but took no action with respect to rescission until August 27, when the present complaint was filed (R. 1-6). It was Vera's lawyer who told Vera of the affidavit and advocated the bringing of a second action (R. 52:28, 50).

For the purpose of this proceeding, the averments of the complaint are of little help; but the depositions of James W. Beless, Jr., and Vera, and Vera's affidavit, spell out what conduct Vera claims to have been fraudulent. Compare the following excerpts:

(1) From Vera's affidavit (R. 49-50):

"**** The above quoted facts (from Lucy's affidavit) were the very facts alleged by me to be true in the assertion of a claim in the estate of Dr. A. Cyril Callister, deceased, in the probate of which defendant was executrix and also in an action against defendant when said claim was denied. Defendant denied the truth of my allegations in the probate and in the action, but after I reduced my claim and compromised it and gave defendant a release based upon this denial, defendant filed the attached affidavit with the Tax Commission asserting the very things I had previously alleged and she had denied.

"In settling the action brought by me to establish my claim I relied on the denial by defendant

of Dr. Callister's intent to place them beyond my access, which denials were contained in her pleadings, deposition, and also in documents on file in the probate of Dr. Callister's estate.

"Had the defendant disclosed to me the above quoted facts which were known to her and which she, as executrix, had the duty to do, I would not have settled my claim for anything less than the full amount due plus interest."

(2) Vera's deposition (R. 52):

"We settled for that \$4,000.00 because I thought there was no other chance of getting it, to be exact, no other opportunity to get it" (R. 52:42).

* * *

A. I think I relied on my lawyer. If he had suggested that there was no chance of getting anything out of that debt that he owed me, I would have dropped it, yes.

Q. But your decision would have been based upon his judgment as to the probable outcome of the suit?

A. Well you usually do the thing that your lawyer thinks best" (R. 52:42).

* * *

"Q. Is it fair to assume then that the reason you settled the prior action was that your lawyer advised you that it was probably best to settle it?

A. Well he made me see that it was best" (R. 52:43).

* * *

"A. Yes, she was disputing it and I figured if \$4,000 was all I could get from what was owed

me, it was better to take that than to be pigheaded and not take anything.

Q. This was by way of a settlement of that suit?

A. Yes.

Q. You knew that she was paying you some money that she didn't concede was due to you either?

A. Why wouldn't she think it was due to me?

Q. She had been saying this all through the lawsuit, hadn't she?

A. Yes, I guess she had—that she paid me, that it came from her and not from the estate, the \$4,000?

Q. That is correct. You knew that it came from her, didn't you?

A. Yes, if she put it that way" (R. 52:44).

* * *

"A. *** I settled it for that \$4,000 strictly on the advice of my lawyer, that it was the best thing to do. *** Yes. We might have had nothing at all if we would have gone to court about it as far as I know" (R. 52:51).

* * *

"Q. Notwithstanding this affidavit, Mrs. Callister, you would probably have settled for \$4,000 even then if you had been advised by counsel that you should do so?

A. Well I think it's wise to take the opinion of counsel (R. 52:54).

From the foregoing excerpts it is clear that Vera settled the case on the advice of counsel. The following quotations from the deposition of J. W. Beless, Jr., make it equally clear that his advice was given not because of any belief in anything Lucy had told him or concealed from him, but upon his professional judgment that it would be difficult to prove a fraudulent conveyance by Dr. Callister:

Q. So that (prior to bringing the first action) you would be able to tell from examining those two documents that although the probate inventory listed assets of approximately \$800.00, the inventory for tax purposes listed assets in excess of One Hundred Thousand Dollars?

A. That is correct, and I had checked the record as to the real property owned by Dr. Callister and I had determined that there were two parcels owned by him and Lucy Callister as joint tenants" (R. 52:10).

* * *

"Q. When you say you felt you had a good lawsuit, you are speaking as of September 26, 1962?

A. That is correct.

Q. When did you change your mind about that?

A. I believe that I would say this: Shortly after the pre-trial conference before Judge Ellett. You possibly have the date of that there in your file.

Q. Yes, the pre-trial conference is dated September 26, 1962.

A. At that time I was faced with proving one of two things: One, that Dr. Callister was made insolvent by these transfers; two, that Dr. Callister intentionally made these transfers to avoid this creditor.

At that time I had taken the deposition of Lucy Callister and *I knew that I was faced with little proof as to his actual intent.* ***

Q. So that you were faced with the problem of proof on the actual intent?

A. I was, and at that time I did considerable research and my finding was that there was some Utah law in my favor but there was considerable law on the matter of insolvency which was definitely against me. And at that time, immediately after this letter, I conferred with you regarding the possibility of a settlement.

Q. That is right, you brought it up, didn't you?

A. I think this letter probably was the initiation of that settlement. There had been offers before that time. You had offered back in August of 1961 to settle it" (R. 52:12-13).

* * *

"Q. Forming your professional judgment as to the difficulties of proof of Dr. Callister's actual intent, I suppose you were aware of and somewhat concerned with the fact that communications from Dr. Callister to his then wife would be privileged?

A. Yes, I was very much concerned with that. In fact *this was why I felt that my only possibility was in either a presumption in law of intent, or in a possibility of the law being construed as to*

this matter of insolvency" (R. 52:14). (Emphasis added.)

* * *

"Q. Going back to the period starting with the initiation of the first action in November of 1961 and its settlement in 1962, I believe it was October, had Lucy Callister made any representations to you that changed your mind about the allegations as to the attempt to defraud that you had made in the complaint?

A. I think she had in this respect: Certainly her pleadings had specifically denied the intent of Dr. Callister and had denied her knowledge in the part where I allege she aided and abetted him in these transfers. And also when I took her deposition she stated specifically, in answer to my question as to whether she was familiar with her answer to my complaint, that she was. She also was acting as executrix here and I think that by the nature of her two inventories she made a representation here upon which we definitely relied.

I think that the representations that were made to me by Lucy Callister were her pleadings, the probate and inheritance tax inventories, and her reaffirmation of the effect of those in her deposition.

Q. Did you believe her when she said that these transfers weren't made for the intent of defrauding Vera?

A. I think after she made her reaffirmation in her deposition I did" (R. 52:15-17).

* * *

Q. So you don't know specifically of any communications that would have been made to (Lucy) strictly in her capacity as executrix that she hasn't disclosed? ***

A. I have no other information respecting his affairs. I can only rely on what was filed.

Q. What this reliance of yours boils down to is that if Mrs. Callister had told you of communications from her husband which would have been usable against her and which you had concluded would be sufficient to win the case for you, you wouldn't have settled it?

A. I certainly would not have.

Q. But other than the things she told you about the case in answer to questions in depositions and interrogatories, she never made any communications to you or directed any to you that kept you from going about your work to find out what the case was all about, did she?

A. No, I had no communication with her.

Q. That is right, so that you were free to go ahead and have your day in court?

A. That is correct. ***

Q. One thing I haven't got clear, you may have answered it, but I believe you said up until September 26 when you wrote the letter to me you believed you had a good lawsuit? *** Now what happened on that day which altered your judgment about the worth of the lawsuit?

A. I think Judge Ellett spelled out very clearly my difficulties in his pre-trial order" (R. 52:25-26).

Vera kept the \$4,000.00 (R. 52:44). Letting Vera have her cake and eat it must have concerned the trial

judge, for in setting aside the judgment and release he directed Vera to pay \$4,000.00 plus interest into the court, its disposition to await further order (R. 62).

On the basis of the depositions, Vera's affidavit, and the file in the previous case, the court ruled that the judgment should be set aside, for the following reasons:

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