1963

Vera T. Callister v. Lucy C. Callister : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

THE COURT MAY SET ASIDE A JUDGMENT FOR ANY REASON JUSTIFYING RELIEF INCLUDING FRAUD UPON THE COURT.

Judge Ellett was understandably shocked by his court official's playing "fast and loose" in estate matters. He exercised his sound discretion in setting the judgment aside because of the acts of a court official, whereby she took advantage of her position, not only by concealing information, which she had a duty to disclose, but also by denying fraudulent intent on the part of Dr. Callister and then later asserting such a fraudulent intent, both to her personal benefit.

An independent action was commenced to set the judgment of dismissal aside under Rule 60(b) U.R.C.P. Rule 60(b) provides, in part, that

“The court may in the furtherance of justice relieve a party . . . from a final judgment . . . for the following reasons: . . .

“(7) Any other reason justifying relief from the operation of the judgment . . . This rule does not limit the power of a court . . . to set aside a judgment for fraud upon the court . . .”

Under 60(b)(7) Judge Ellett was justified in setting the judgment aside for many reasons other than fraud, including such reasons as (a) He did not want an officer of the court to profit by her position at the expense of a creditor of the estate. (b) He wanted an officer of his court to fully disclose relevant facts to those persons to whom she had a duty of trust. (c) He wanted an officer of his court to fully disclose relevant facts to the court itself. (d) He did not want an officer of his court to engage in sharp practice because the act of the officer is, in fact, an act of the court, and the public in general, and creditors of estates in particular, are entitled to expect and receive fair and impartial treatment from the court and its officials in the probate of an estate.

Likewise, Judge Ellett felt there was “fraud upon the court.” Fraud upon the court may arise when a court official violates a duty to deal with the court with integrity and honesty.

“‘Fraud upon the court’ should, we believe, embrace only that species of fraud which does, or attempts to, defile the court itself, or is a fraud perpetrated by officers of the court so that the judicial machinery can not perform in the usual manner its impartial task of adjudging cases that are presented for adjudication.” 7 *Moore’s Federal Practice*, Par. 60.33.

The court was fully justified in setting aside the judgment, under Rule 60(b), for fraud upon the court or any other reason justifying relief. The bulk of the arguments in appellant’s brief are therefore inapplicable.

We discuss their arguments in the order presented in appellant’s brief.

POINT II.

THERE WAS FRAUD UPON THE PLAINTIFF.

Lucy argues that the specific intent of Dr. Callister to defraud Vera might be proved by circumstantial evidence of the surrounding circumstances, rather than by showing direct statements by the doctor showing his intent. She quotes an inapplicable rule, about direct *testimony* by a transferor, to the effect the transferor’s direct testimony *denying* his fraudulent intent might not be worthy of belief. Here, we have neither direct testimony (Dr. Callister is deceased) nor do we have denial of fraudulent intent, but rather a *declaration* against interest *admitting* the fraudulent intent.

This is not only a declaration against interest, which in and of itself is sufficient to be an exception to the hearsay rule, but is an admission by Lucy’s predecessor

in title, and as such is binding upon Lucy, who is in privity with him. Contrary to appellant's assertion that Dr. Callister's statement of his fraudulent intent would not be admissible because the statement was made subsequent to the transfers, the general rule of law, which has been set forth in many Utah cases, is to the effect that:

“When intent is a material element of a disputed fact, declarations of a decedent made after, as well as before, an alleged act that indicate the intent with which he performed the act, are admissible.”

20 Am. Jur. Evidence, Par. 585 (Cumulative Suppl.) *Kelly v. Bank of America Nat. T. & Sav'gs Association*, 112 Cal. App. 2d 388, 246 P2d 92, 34 ALR 2d 578. *Annotation* 34 ALR 2d 588. *Mower v. Mower* (1924) 64 Utah 260, 228 P 911; *Chamberlain v. Larson* (1934) 83 Utah 420, 29 P2d 355; *Stanley v. Stanley* (1939) 97 Utah 520, 94 P2d 465; *First Security Bank v. Burgi* (1952) 122 Utah 445, 251 P2d 297.

Lucy's contention that the doctor's statement would not be admissible in evidence is therefore erroneous.

Lucy argues that Vera should have proved her case by circumstantial evidence, and that she was therefore not harmed by Lucy's concealment of facts in violation of her fiduciary duty of full disclosure. Declarations by the transferor are a part of the circumstantial evidence. *Mower v. Mower*, 64 Utah 260, 228 P 911, 914. Furthermore, Lucy would have to concede that a case without an outright admission by Dr. Callister of his

fraudulent intent would be a weaker case than one based upon such an admission. Vera was, therefore, harmed by concealment of such statement because the weakness of a case induces its settlement for a small amount.

Lucy argues the admission of fraudulent intent by the doctor was a privileged communication by one spouse to another, but Lucy had no qualms about waiving the “privilege” when it was to her advantage to disclose the communication to the tax commission. She had the duty to disclose the same statement to a creditor in the probate proceeding so long as she was executrix, and she could only avoid such a duty by either declining to act or by resigning as executrix, neither of which would she do. It would be most peculiar to permit a fiduciary to breach her duty of full disclosure and justify such breach on the grounds that she had a personal privilege. More importantly, communications between husband and wife while engaged in the perpetration of a fraud are not privileged. 58 *Am. Jur. Witnesses*, par. 398.

It is amazing to note that Lucy next asserts, “Lucy presently contends, and has contended all along, that the transfers weren’t made with intent to defraud Vera.” (Appellant’s brief, page 19). This is a remarkable statement in light of the assertion to the tax commission that the doctor told her the transfers were made for the purpose of placing the stock beyond the access of Vera; which statement was submitted to the tax commission for the purpose of establishing that the transfers were

not in contemplation of death.

Lucy next argues that a litigant *generally* has no duty to disclose facts helpful to the opposition. This is conceded, and the cases cited by Lucy on the point are sound, but they are inapplicable because there is no fiduciary relationship involved in those cited cases. Vera concedes that if there were no fiduciary duty of full disclosure, then failure to disclose would not be fraudulent, but Vera does not agree that it is either “preposterous” or “unreasonable” that Vera should expect a full disclosure from the executrix. Lucy had a duty of full disclosure when Vera asserted her claim, which duty continued after Lucy denied the claim and suit was brought against her.

In discussing the duties of an administrator, Bancroft says:

“Once appointed and acting, the representative becomes as to the heirs and devisees, a fiduciary, and practically a trustee in many respects, subject to the burden of dealing with a fairness which is the settled concomitant of such relationship, . . .

“Thus the personal representative of a decedent occupies a dual position; he stands in a fiduciary relationship to the creditors and heirs of the deceased, and at the same time he has obligations as an officer of the court which appointed him.

2 *Bancroft's Probate Practice*, 2nd Ed. Pars. 332, 337.

"Crosby was also the administrator or manager of the estate in Utah. As administrator he had the duty to make full disclosure of all matters and information regarding the estate. It is not unlike a partnership where one partner manages the business. He must make full disclosure of his acts and the state of the business and render a correct accounting." *In re Blodgett's Estate*, 93 Utah 1, 70 P2d 742, 749.

Justice Cardozo in the case of *Meinhard v. Salmon*, 249 N.Y. 458, 164 N.E. 545, 62 A.L.R. 1, quoted in 2 Scott on Trusts, p. 909, said:

"Many forms of conduct permissible in a workaday world for those acting at arm's length, are forbidden to those bound by fiduciary ties. A trustee is held to something stricter than the morals of the market place. Not honesty alone, but the punctilio of an honor the most sensitive, is then the standard of behavior. As to this there has developed a tradition that is unending and inveterate. Uncompromising rigidity has been the attitudes of courts of equity when petitioned to undermine the rule of undivided loyalty by the 'disintegrating erosion' of particular exceptions. Only thus had the level of conduct for fiduciaries been kept at a level higher than that trodden by the crowd. It will not consciously be lowered by any judgment of this court."

In *Burns v. Skogstad*, 69 Idaho 227, 206 Pac. 2d 765, 769, in a case remarkably close to the case at bar, the Court said:

"... it was the duty of the executor in dealing with these legatees to make a full disclosure of all relevant facts and to treat them with utmost frankness. 3 *Bogart Trusts and Trustees*, Sec. 493 and 544. The burden was upon the defendants to show that this duty was performed. This the defendants have not done. The record is silent as to what disclosures, if any, were made by the executor as to the condition, or value of the estate, or as to the interests of the legatees therein."

"Utmost fairness and good faith is required of an executor with those whom he purports to represent." 33 C.J.S. 1102, Sec. 142, note 41. The executor primarily represents the creditors of the estate of the decedent and secondarily the heirs. *Mutual Life Ins. Co. of N. Y. v. Farmers & Mechanics Bank*, 173 F. 390; *In re Weinberg's Estate*, 296 N.Y.S. 7, 162 Misc. 867. A trust relation exists between the executor and the creditors, especially if the estate is insolvent. *Reconstruction Finance Corp. v. Lee*, 290 Mich. 328, 287 N.W. 757.

It is always held to be actual fraud for an executor to take for his own benefit a position in which his personal interest will conflict with his primary duty to creditors. *Scholz v. Hazard*, 68 Colo. 343, 191 Pac. 123; 2 *Bancroft's Probate Practice* 648, Sec. 339. *Woodson v. Reynolds*, 42 N.M. 161, 76 P2d 34.

Lucy as executrix had a legal duty to disclose to Vera, as a creditor, facts in Lucy's knowledge regarding the assets of the estate and fraudulent transfers by the

decedent. The probate inventory filed by Lucy (R. 85) and the inheritance tax inventory (R. 100) were half truths. 2 *Bancroft's Probate Practice*, 657 Sec. 506, states: "If property was conveyed by the decedent in his lifetime in fraud of creditors and the assets are insufficient to pay his debts, such property may be recovered in most states in an action by the representative and *must be inventoried* although it is an 'asset' only for the payment of debts." (emphasis ours). *Adams v. Prather*, 176 Cal. 33, 167 P. 534.

In *Baker v. Baker*, 24 Tenn. App. 220, 142 S.W. 2d 737, the court states:

"The executor is bound to disclose material facts within his knowledge wherein the beneficiary's interest is to be affected by a transaction with the executor, concealment by the executor being fraudulent in law and furnishing basis for equitable relief."

See 3 *Pomeroy's Equity Jurisprudence*, Sec. 902.

In re Dryden's Estate, 155 Neb. 552, 52 N.W. 2d 734, holds that "The personal representative of an estate and his attorney are officers of the court and are fiduciaries in their relation to the estate of the deceased and the persons interested therein," and that failure of the executor and his attorney to disclose facts material to such interested persons to protect their interests is extrinsic fraud requiring equitable relief. This duty of disclosure by an executor was again spelled out in *Purinton v. Dyson*, 8 Cal. 2d 322, 65 P.2d 777, 113 A.L.R. 1230.

Lucy's failure to fully disclose was not only a breach of duty as a fiduciary. It was the means of reaping a benefit for Lucy personally. She was an officer of the court, who in the language of our court in *Weyant v. Utah Sav. & Tr. Co.*, 54 Utah 181, 182 P. 189, 9 A.L.R. 1119, "used the court as an instrument to gain her own end." *In re Sullivan's Estate*, 51 Ariz. 483, 78 P.2d 132, is a case involving failure of an executor to disclose material facts to creditors. The court said:

"When a party who speaks falsely or refuses to speak truly occupies a fiduciary relation toward an injured party so that it is his duty to state all the facts, and if further he profits by his own fraudulent conduct, the conduct will justify equity in intervening even in a collateral proceedings whether the fraud be considered extrinsic or intrinsic."

Lucy argues that there was no reliance. The test of reliance in a case of concealment is whether or not Vera would have acted differently had there been a disclosure. 37 C.J.S. *Fraud*, par. 29. Vera testified that although she would have been guided by counsel, had the statement by Dr. Callister been disclosed to her, she would not have settled. (R-52-53) Furthermore, Vera's lawyer said that he would not have advised settlement had the statement by Dr. Callister as to his fraudulent intent been disclosed by Lucy. (R-52-26)

Lucy cites *Colton v. Stanford*, 82 Cal. 351, 23 P.16, as authority as to when a fiduciary's duty of disclosure terminates. That case holds that the fiduciary duty continues so long as the relationship continues. Lucy hasn't

yet resigned as executrix and still has the duty of full disclosure. In none of the cases cited by Lucy is the fiduciary exonerated from an original duty to disclose by virtue of the fact that a suit is pending to establish the very thing concealed.

Lucy asserts that this was an arm's-length transaction because Vera had counsel. Vera's counsel was duped along with Vera. He would not have advised compromising Vera's claim had Lucy disclosed facts known to her. (R-52-26)

There was a fiduciary duty of accounting for assets and of full disclosure and a breach of said duties, reliance on which changed Vera's course of conduct.

POINT III.

LUCY'S FRAUD WAS EXTRINSIC.

The fraud is stated by Lucy to be intrinsic and not the type which is the basis for setting aside a judgment which must be extrinsic. The distinction between intrinsic and extrinsic fraud has been criticized as being largely a matter of semantics; but even if the distinction is a valid one, where a fiduciary has a duty to make a full and fair disclosure to the adverse party of relevant and material facts, a failure to do so is extrinsic fraud and is the basis for setting aside a judgment. 7 *Moore's Federal Practice*, 60.37, footnote 22. Where testamentary trustees had a duty to disclose to beneficiaries their self dealing, the trustees' failure to disclose was held to be both intrinsic and extrinsic fraud and an order vacating a judgment was affirmed. *Re Enger*, 225 Minn. 229, 30 NW 2d 694, 1 ALR 2d 1048. An order setting

aside a judgment was held to be proper where a guardian obtained a release and discharge from his wards. The court said, "If there was fraud in obtaining the release, this fraud was certainly extrinsic to the judgment." *Park v. Park*, 123 Fed 2d 370, 372.

Furthermore, if there is fraud upon the court as here, the very language partially quoted by Lucy in her brief from *Haner v. Haner*, 13 Utah 2d 299, 373 P2d 577, 578-9, shows that the judgment should be set aside as being extrinsic fraud. The court said:

"It is sometimes said that when a judgment is attacked collaterally on the ground that it was obtained by fraud or deceit it will be set aside only for extrinsic fraud. But we are in accord with the indicators in the Restatement of Judgments that this is too limited. It seems more realistic to say that when it appears that the processes of justice have been so completely thwarted or distorted as to persuade the court that in fairness and good conscience a judgment should not be permitted to stand, relief should be granted. However, inasmuch as the plaintiff here seems to be relying on the ground of fraud, there is a distinction which it is necessary to point out. In order to justify granting relief, the alleged wrong would have to be of the type characterized as extrinsic fraud: that is, fraud based on conduct or activities outside of the court proceedings themselves; and which is designed and has the effect of depriving the other party of the opportunity to present his claim or defense. This type of fraud, which is regarded as a *fraud* not only upon the opponent, but *upon the court itself*, can be accomplished in a number of ways,

such as making false statements or representations to the other party or to witnesses to prevent them from contesting the issues; or by that means or otherwise preventing the attendance of the parties or witnesses; or by destroying or *secret-ing* evidence; so that fair trial of the issues is effectively prevented.” (Emphasis ours).

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